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WITNESS STATEMENT OF JENNIFER JUNE WILLIAMS AM 

I, Jennifer June Williams AM, Chair of Northern Health, of 185 Cooper Street, Epping, in the State 

of Victoria, say as follows: 

1 I am authorised by Northern Health to make this statement on its behalf. 

2 I make this statement on the basis of my own knowledge, save where otherwise stated. 

Where I make statements based on information provided by others, I believe such 

information to be true. 

BACKGROUND 

Please detail your background and experience, including your qualifications. 

3 I have the following qualifications: 

(a) Bachelor of Economics; 

(b) Master of Science; and 

(c) Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

4 I am currently the Chair of Northern Health and have been in this role since July 2015.  In 

addition, my current board appointments include: 

(a) Chair of Yooralla since February 2016; 

(b) Director of InfoXchange since February 2017; 

(c) Board Member of the Independent Hospital Pricing Authority since October 

2017; 

(d) Board Member of Barwon Health since September 2017; 

(e) Board Member of the Australian Medical Research Advisory Board since 

April 2016; 

(f) Panel Member of the South Australian Mental Health Service Plan 

Development since August 2018; and 

(g) Trustee and Chair of Alfred Health’s Whole Time Medical Specialists’ 

Private Practice Scheme since August 2016. 
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5 Prior to my above board appointments, I had over 20 years of experience in the health 

sector undertaking executive leadership roles within various organisations: 

(a) from March 2009 to March 2016, I was the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Australian Red Cross Blood Service; 

(b) from October 2004 to February 2009, I was the Chief Executive Officer of 

Alfred Health; and 

(c) from November 1997 to October 2004, I was the Chief Executive Officer of 

Austin Health. 

6 In addition to the above roles, I have had 13 years of experience working in the State 

Government of Victoria as follows: 

(a) from September 1996 to October 1997, I was the Director of Aged, 

Community and Mental Health within the Department of Human Services 

(DHHS); 

(b) from October 1993 to September 1996, I was the Director of Psychiatric 

Services within the Department of Health and Community Services; 

(c) from November 1990 to October 1993, I was the General Manager of 

Information and Commercial Services within the Department of Treasury 

and Finance; 

(d) from August 1985 to November 1990, I was the Director of Information 

Systems and later the Deputy Secretary of the Attorney General’s 

Department; and 

(e) from June 1984 to August 1985, I was the Manager of Systems 

Development within the Ministry of Housing. 

7 Attached to this statement and marked JW-1 is a copy of my Curriculum Vitae. 

Please describe your current role and your responsibilities, specifically your role as Chair 

of Northern Health.  (When describing parts of the mental health system or services (e.g. 

“sub-acute”; e.g. “community based” please explain what should be understood by those 

terms). 

8 I am the Chair of the Board of Northern Health.  In that capacity I attend to business 

through meetings and a range of informal processes over the year.  In addition to the 

minimum number of Board meetings required to be attended, individuals contribute 

through participation or chairing the various committees of the Board.  I attend all Board 

meetings and most of the Board sub-committee meetings. Between committee meetings, 

I am involved in assisting the Chief Executive and management in the performance of 
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Northern Health’s functions.  Northern Health have made a separate submission to the 

Royal Commission. 

Please briefly outline the arrangements under which Melbourne Health provides clinical 

mental health services within Northern Health. 

9 Around 20 years ago, a service model for the delivery of mental health services was 

adopted whereby Melbourne Health would be responsible for the mental health services 

of three of the health services, being Melbourne Health, Northern Health and Western 

Health.  This model was designed at a time when Northern Health had only recently been 

established and was a much smaller health service.  This centralised model worked well 

for some years.  However, in the years since the establishment of this model, Northern 

Health has grown considerably and is now very able to take responsibility for the mental 

health services that service the northern catchment.  The management team is capable 

of taking on this responsibility and it is no longer appropriate that another health service 

(Melbourne Health) be responsible for services provided within Northern Health facilities 

and elsewhere that services the Northern Health community. 

10 The centralised model has had some unintended consequences, for example:  

(a) Northern Health has poor visibility over mental health provided within its 

facilities; 

(b) The separation of mental health means that Northern Health has little or 

no influence over how the mental health resources are allocated or 

prioritised as this is done by Melbourne Health; 

(c) Coordination of care for patients is made more complex and difficult given 

the dual responsibility; and 

(d) Patients, families and the community assume that Northern Health is the 

provider of these mental health facilities given they are in our facilities.  

When complaints arise these must be referred to Melbourne Health for a 

response, as Northern Health has no knowledge of mental health incidents 

or events occurring in the mental health facilities at Northern Health. 

11 The only information provided to our Board about mental health is where mental health 

patients present to the Northern Health emergency department (ED).  Waiting times for 

these patients have now been included in the Board papers monthly but no other mental 

health performance indicators (for the acute, sub-acute, aged mental health or community 

services).  The performance of waiting times for mental health patients in the Northern 

Health ED are very long and unsatisfactory.  Many of these patients need admission to 

the acute ward run by Melbourne Health at Northern Hospital or admission to other 

services over which Northern Health has no control. 
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12 An example of issues that arise due to the provision of mental health services by 

Melbourne Health is found in a recent case that was heard by the Coroner’s Court.  This 

case involved a suicide at the Northern Hospital and both Northern Health and Melbourne 

Health were required to respond to the Coroner.  In the findings, Coroner English found 

that the structure of the two health services impedes the quality and responsiveness of 

patient care (paragraph 187) and made recommendations aimed at requiring Northern 

Hospital and North Western Mental Health to together consider the safety and 

contemporary nature of their respective roles in the ED (paragraph 216). 

13 Coroner English recommended that: 

(a) Melbourne Health, North Western Mental Health and Northern Hospital 

review the current service model of care provided to patients in the ED who 

have a mental illness or who require assessment for a possible mental 

illness, for opportunities to integrate patient care processes to (1) identify 

patient needs, (2) increase the communication of critical information, (3) 

develop shared and comprehensive care planning and (4) the prevention 

of harm; and 

(b) Northern Hospital ED in consultation with North Western Mental Health, 

review the contemporaneousness and appropriateness of the practice that 

currently removes medical practitioner responsibilities under the Mental 

Health Act 2014 (Vic) (Act) and assigns responsibility for its use to North 

Western Mental Health clinicians.  The review should be informed by (1) 

escalation processes in the ED, (2) an understanding of the intent of 

sections 28-30 of the Act, (3) an understanding of the Act safeguards for a 

patient who is subject to the Act including their rights and responsibilities, 

and (4) advice regarding the obligations regarding section 30 of the Act 

from the Chief Psychiatrist in Victoria. 

14 Attached to this statement and marked JW-2 is a copy of the Coroner’s findings. 

Please describe historical roles where you have interacted professionally with the mental 

health system in Victoria. 

15 I have interacted professionally with the mental health system in Victoria in a number of 

roles, including: 

(a) As the Chair of Yooralla, I have interacted with the mental health system 

insofar as Yooralla is a provider of disability services, which includes some 

mental health clients and clients with a dual disability (including mental 

illness) , and in particular positive behaviour support;  
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(b) As a Board Member of Barwon Health since September 2017, and prior to 

that as a Ministerial Delegate on the Board of Barwon Health, I have 

exposure to mental health issues because Barwon Health is a major 

regional health service and sole provider of public mental health services 

for the region.   This includes providing community mental health services, 

emergency mental health services, inpatient services for the youth, adult 

and aged groups, subacute and rehabilitation inpatient services, 

psychogeriatric nursing home services and some sub-specialist services 

such as eating disorders and drug and alcohol services. Barwon Health 

have made a separate submission to the Royal Commission; 

(c) As one of the three person panel oversighting the development of the 

South Australian Mental Health Service Plan, I am involved in the 

development of a plan for the commissioning and delivery of State 

Government funded mental health and wellbeing services in South 

Australia.  This work is now largely complete; 

(d) As the Chief Executive Officer of each of Alfred Health and Austin Health, 

I was responsible for a full range of public mental health services delivered 

by these health services to their respective catchments; 

(e) As the Director of Aged, Community and Mental Health within the 

Department of Human Services, I was responsible for public mental health 

services as well as community services and aged care; and 

(f) As the Director of Psychiatric Services within the Department of Health and 

Community Services, I was responsible for public mental health services 

and lead the substantial changes from institutionalised care for those 

people with mental illness to the establishment of area based public mental 

health services.  These new services included acute, subacute and aged 

inpatient services being the responsibility of the hospitals, as well as the 

creation of a number of community based care models such as community 

based clinics, crisis assessment teams, mobile support teams and 

community care units.  
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PRIORITISATION 

Thinking both of past roles, and your observations from your current role, please describe 

the extent to which the prioritisation of mental health services within the overall work of a 

Hospital or Health Service is: 

 Directed by DHHS; 

 Negotiated between the Hospital or Health Service and DHHS; or 

 At the discretion of the Board of the Hospital or Health Service within a budget? 

16 Health services, such as Barwon, Alfred and Austin Health, who have responsibility for  

public mental health services, consider the prioritisation of mental health when they 

determine resource and budget setting, when they request funding for new or expanded 

services, and when capital plans are developed.  This does not occur at Northern Health 

as it doesn’t have responsibility for public mental health services.  

17 The mental health operating budget provided by DHHS quarantines these funds so that 

a health service cannot reallocate funds from mental health to another areas such as 

medicine or surgery.  The funding system for mental health was established many years 

ago and annually this funding is indexed based on wage or Enterprise Bargaining 

Agreement movements and Consumer Price Index changes.  New initiatives can also be 

funded.  Many, including myself, consider the current funding inadequate for existing 

services (eg, the bed-day rates) as well as inadequate in total.  

18 DHHS, the Minister for Mental Health, the Minister for Health and Cabinet determine the 

overall budget and the priority of mental health in the budget setting process. 

To what extent can a Hospital or Health Service advocate to DHHS for additional funds for 

mental health?  How is the decision to engage in such advocacy made?  Is the decision 

made by the Board? 

19 Requests for additional mental health funding arise in the same way that requests for any 

new funding from government occur:  

(a) Around November each year, DHHS starts to prepare its budget for the 

coming year.  Discussion occurs between DHHS and the Treasury.  This 

process results in a final budget approved by Cabinet and then Parliament 

around June the following year;  

(b) Health services put forward their priorities and requests for new and 

additional funding to DHHS and this dialogue continues until the budget is 

finalised. Often, a comprehensive business case supports budget 
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requests.  It is not unusual for the same request to be submitted over 

multiple years to try to receive funds.  

20 The Board will normally approve any material proposal for new funding.  A health service 

may be asked to prioritise their proposals that they submit as part of a funding request.  

The Board, with advice from management, will make a decision to distinguish between 

the “must have” aspects of their funding requests, as against the lower priority elements.   

21 A health service seeking funding in a budget process will usually raise the request directly 

with senior people in DHHS, or with the relevant Minister’s office with the objective of 

increasing their receptivity to the particular proposal.  This is usually done by the Chair 

and Chief Executive Officer (CEO).  Local Members of Parliament or other prominent 

people may also assist in this advocacy. 

22 A forthcoming State or Federal election is also an opportunity to raise new initiatives with 

both parties with the objective of your initiative forming part of their election promises.  

Engaging in advocacy to obtain funding in this way can be a formal request or pursued in 

a less formal way by raising it with Local Members or others of influence.  

23 While Northern Health has advocated for the responsibility for mental health to be moved 

from Melbourne Health to Northern Health, it has not advocated for specific initiatives 

within mental health as it has not had responsibility for mental health.  If opportunities 

were to arise for additional funding for mental health, it is unlikely that Northern Health 

would know of this under the current governance arrangements.   

Based on your observations, what are the usual elements of the budget referred to 

above so far as is relevant to clinical mental health services?  In particular , when 

budgeting how is funding prioritised and distributed between bed-based and 

community-based clinical mental health services? 

24 The budget allocated for a health service to mental health assigns funding to the various 

elements such as beds and community based services.  While a health service could, 

with the DHHS agreement, move funds from one area of mental health to another area, 

this is difficult because every part of the mental health service lacks sufficient funding to 

meet patient demand. 

Based on your observations, during a year:  

 What are the sources of unanticipated/greater than budgeted expenditure within a 

Hospital or Health Service, both within clinical mental health services and 

generally? 

 When do funds get reallocated?  What causes one area of service delivery to trump 

another for which funds were originally allocated? 
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 Does this have particular implications for clinical mental health services (either 

generally or for services of particular kinds)? 

25 As the mental health operating budget is quarantined, a health service cannot reallocate 

funds provided for mental health to another service within the health service. Expenditure 

can exceed the allocated budget due to unfunded salary increases, underfunded non-

salary costs (eg, pharmacy), staffing at levels above the modelled staffing levels (eg, 

patient acuity is greater than assumed in the DHHS modelled budgets requiring additional 

staff), and due to individual patients needing one on one staffing and other reasons.  The 

fiscal responsibility of Boards and the absence of other funding sources means that health 

services work very hard to operate within the allocated budget and do not intentionally 

spend over agreed budgets.  

26 Additional funding for mental health relies on receiving new funding from government and 

over the last many years inadequate additional funding has been provided.  Mental health 

has historically been seen as the ‘poor cousin’ of the health system which perhaps 

explains in part why this has not been the priority it should have been.  When I was 

Director of Psychiatric Services in the Department in the 1990s, mental health was a very 

high priority of the Department and government, and significant additional funds, both 

operating funds and capital funds, were provided over several years.  Victoria became 

the highest funded State when measured by per capita expenditure on mental health.  

Victoria is now the lowest spending State in Australia.  

Please describe your observations as to the quality, timeliness and “depth” of the 

performance and financial information available to the Board in relation to clinical mental 

health service delivery.  If possible, please compare the Board’s level of visibility over 

clinical mental health services to its level of visibility over other clinical services. In your 

answer, you may wish to discuss: 

 Waiting times, waiting lists and level of unmet demand; 

 Quality indicators and KPIs; 

 Overall spend by the Hospital or Health Service, and where the spend “ends up” 

(including compared to budget); and 

 Incidents and risks. 

27 The management of mental health services by Melbourne Health means that Northern 

Health has a low level of insight into the allocation and operation of funding for public 

mental health services in the Northern Health catchment.  Little information is provided 

and there is no transparency on budget allocation by Melbourne Health to Northern 

Health. 
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28 In my experience, at health services such as Barwon, Alfred and Austin Health, there is 

considerable interest in mental health by the Board and management with regular 

reporting at the same or a similar level as other clinical areas.  Given the severity of 

incidents that occur within mental health services, the Board can in fact devote 

considerable time and attention to mental health.  At one health service, the board 

established a sub-committee to oversee mental health until it had addressed a large 

number of deficiencies that were identified by independent reviews that were initiated as 

a result of a cluster of patient incidents.  

29 The Board and the Board Quality Committee would receive monthly information on key 

mental health indicators with further information on incidents, accreditation and risks 

forming a regular item on the Board Quality Committee agenda.  

30 There is very good State and National Key Performance Indicator (KPI) reporting to 

enable benchmarking of mental health services (such as rates of involuntary care, 

seclusion rates, length of stay and rates of readmission within 28 days of discharge). 

In your observation (including in prior roles), what proportion of management and 

Board time is typically taken up dealing with clinical mental health services?  Does 

this differ across the above topics (waiting times, quality indicators and KPIs, overall 

spend, incidents and risks)? 

31 As the CEO at both Alfred and Austin Health, it was my experience that mental health 

was appropriately considered in Board discussions.  I do not think it suffered from adverse 

internal prioritisation.   

32 Mental health has been ‘mainstreamed’ and embedded in the hospital system for more 

than 20 years.  As a result, it has become part of everyday service delivery, and is often 

incorporated into a range of programs, even where their primary focus is not mental 

health.  So far as I have observed, the CEOs of today are very aware of the issues 

presented by mental health and their importance to community health and give it 

appropriate priority.  

33 I would observe that it is necessary to have staff at DHHS who have a depth of 

understanding around mental health issues, who can prosecute the case for change and 

advocate for additional resources.  I believe this is an area of potential improvement.  

Are there areas where clinical mental health services are over-represented in 

management/Board attention?  Which areas? 

34 I have not seen an occasion when mental health services have been over-represented at 

Board level or management.  In my experience, appropriate attention is paid to mental 

health services by boards and management.   
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Are there areas where clinical mental health services are under-represented in 

management/Board attention?  Which areas?  Why might this be? 

35 Given the governance arrangements at Northern Health for mental health, there is little 

oversight of public mental health services by the Board or management.  Northern Health 

would like to take responsibility for mental health from Melbourne Health and when this 

occurs I would expect a period of significant interest and oversight by the Board and 

management during and following the transition period. 

Are there features of the current budgeting, governance or performance monitoring 

structures within the Victorian public health system which you consider are inherently 

likely to result in clinical mental health services being under-prioritised within a Hospital 

or Health Service?  If so, how could these be changed? 

36 If the mental health program was not lead by a senior executive reporting at the CEO or 

Chief Operating Officer (COO) level at the health service, then mental health could be 

under-prioritised. Mental health needs strong and visible leadership at the health service 

level and within DHHS.   

Do you have a view as to the relevance of geographic catchments in mental health 

service delivery?  Is it helpful or unhelpful to require Victorians to seek services in 

their own catchment? 

37 Defined area-based catchments were developed during my time in DHHS in the 1990s in 

response to the concern that mental health patients presented to a hospital for care and 

were sometimes rejected for treatment, either because they felt they were too busy or if 

they had no inpatient capacity in which to admit the patient.  The establishment of 

catchments meant that a patient in their own area must be treated by the service when 

they presented.  In addition, patients are most likely to want to be treated near to where 

they usually reside.  It also means that on discharge from an inpatient stay, the related 

community based mental health services can continue to manage patients that need 

ongoing care.  

38 If defined catchments were to be removed, then health services would need to ensure 

that they would treat appropriately any presenting mental health patient regardless of their 

usual place of residence.  

If mental health services were to come back to Northern Health to run, how would you 

then optimise governance and accountability for mental health within your Health 

Service?  Why would you choose this design?  What would your immediate priorities 

be in mental health? 
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39 The transfer of responsibility for public mental health services from Melbourne Health to 

Northern Health is strongly supported by Northern Health.  While previously resisted by 

Melbourne Health, it now has the support of the Chair and CEO of Melbourne Health as 

well as DHHS.  It has been very slow, unfortunately, to achieve any progress in the 

transition though and it is hoped that the Royal Commission’s inquiry will support the 

transfer of services to Northern Health and expedite it occurring. 

40 The staff that comprise North Western Mental Health and those that support our 

catchment would transfer from Melbourne Health to Northern Health.  Northern Health 

would need to be gazetted as a mental health service as are other health services that 

provide mental health services.  Northern Health would appoint a senior executive 

responsible for the mental health program and they would report either directly to the 

CEO or to the COO where other clinical services report. 

41 Given the importance of an orderly and successful transfer of responsibility, mental health 

would be given considerable attention by management and the Board.  Initially an 

assessment of the transferred services would be carried out, including development of a 

gap analysis which would inform us on how we could address these gaps.  It is almost 

certain that a funding request to government would result to assist in filling these gaps. 

The analysis would also identify any deficiencies in compliance with relevant statutory 

requirements and applicable guidelines. 

42 There are a number of programs at Northern Health, such as the Staying Well program, 

that would be extended to mental health if responsibility was transferred from Melbourne 

Health.  This program looks at new approaches to holistic and integrated care by: 

(a) predicting people likely to present for care (high risk groups) and providing 

proactive care and treatment out of hospital; 

(b) connecting acute and community care services to incorporate community 

based social supports and early interventions, and provide rapid access to 

acute care when needed; and 

(c) strengthening partnerships with the community and other service providers 

for out of hospital supports. 

43 Northern Health would also incorporate public mental health into our quality and safety 

system framework to ensure appropriate oversight and intervention when necessary 
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DE-INSTITUTIONALISATION OF THE MENTAL HEALTH SYSTEM 

From your prior experience, what led to the de-institutionalisation of the mental health 

system in Victoria in the 1990s? 

44 Deinstitutionalisation commenced in advanced economies in the 1980s and 1990s and I 

was responsible for this program in Victoria when I was in DHHS in the 1990s.  

Cunningham Dax was seen as the main author and impetus for the move out of 

institutions to less stigmatising environments, namely mainstreaming care into hospitals 

as well as the establishment of community based care for those people with mental 

illness.  At this time in Victoria, a further powerful influence was the identification of abuse 

and corruption uncovered in the stand-alone psychiatric institutions such as Lakeside in 

Ballarat.  A further impetus was the Burdekin report into homelessness which identified a 

significant number of people who were homeless suffered mental illness, some of which 

had never been treated.  There were also a number of highly publicised police shootings 

of people with mental illness and there was a strong drive to prevent this from reoccurring. 

45 When I was first appointed as Director of Psychiatric Services, I lead a department in 

DHHS which developed a set of new reforms for mental health services, including de-

institutionalisation, the establishment of bed based services in general hospitals and the 

resulting transfer of staff from the institutions, and the establishment of a number of 

community based care services. 

46 This reform package was also supported by the first National Mental Health Plan which 

had similar goals.  There was very strong support for the reforms we developed by the 

Secretary of DHHS, the Minister for Health and the government generally.  When the then 

Minister for Health, the late Hon. Marie Tehan, launched our reform document, known as 

The Framework, she stated that she was ‘prepared to be judged on her performance as 

Health Minister by what was achieved solely in Mental Health’, such was her commitment 

to the successful implementation of the reforms. 

47 There was community concern over the abuses uncovered in psychiatric institutions and 

while many supported the reforms, there was also public concern that closing the 

institutions would mean people with mental illness would be left untreated and that the 

new services would not be in place in time to support those leaving the institutions.  

Fortunately, this did not prove to be the case, as we ensured very robust inpatient and 

community based services were implemented.  This program also needed a major capital 

investment as new acute, sub-acute and other residential services needed to be 

constructed and premises leased or built for the community based services.  A business 

case for an extensive capital program was approved and funded by the government. 

48 The prevalence of mental illness and the associated stigma and discrimination that many 

experienced was much discussed as we set about educating the community about the 
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prevalence of mental illness and the need for first class public mental health services 

which were accessible across Victoria. 

49 It was during this period that Victoria become the State with the highest per capita 

expenditure on mental health.  Sadly, it is now the lowest spending State in Australia. 

How did the government make the implementation of significant reforms to mental health 

services a key priority in the 1990s? 

50 To my observation, a key input to Victoria’s ability to deliver significant reforms in mental 

health in the 1990s was the commitment to mental health shown by the Minister for 

Health, the late Hon. Marie Tehan, who also had the strong support of the Premier.  

51 I make the following general observations about the benefits which flow to mental health 

services from committed leadership at the highest levels, noting that these comments are 

not a commentary on the performance of any particular Health Minister, Minister for 

Mental Health or Premier: 

(a) It is very powerful to have a Health Minister who is committed to prioritising mental 

health within the Health portfolio. Even with the best of intentions, alternative 

governance structures such as having a Minister for Mental Health may not be 

able to match (in terms of outcomes) a leadership structure which prioritises 

‘mental health’ within ‘health’. 

(b) When there is commitment at a senior leadership level, proposals for mental 

health reform and service improvement are more likely to be presented to 

Cabinet/Expenditure Review Committee, and are more likely to be successful. 

(c) State Governments are judged on their performance in the Health portfolio. When 

a State Government volunteers to be judged by its performance in mental health 

services (or outcomes), as opposed to the measures which are more typically 

prominent such as elective surgery waiting lists, this assists to prioritise mental 

health within government. 

(d) The organisational structure within the Health Department is important. For 

example, whether the Director of Mental Health reports to the Secretary of DHHS 

or alternatively reports to a Deputy Secretary who also has responsibility for other 

areas, affects prioritisation within the Department. 

(e) Committed leaders who prioritise mental health services and policy tend to devote 

more time and attention to mental health issues. 
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Do you think the vision and service system put in place in the 1990s is still relevant to 

community needs?  Why or why not? 

52 The service system that was developed and implemented during the 1990s remains 

fundamentally sound, but there have been many developments and innovations since 

that time that still need to be incorporated into the service system.  One of the biggest 

problems is that demand for mental health services is greater than that with which the 

services can cope.  This results in difficulty accessing services, with the clinical threshold 

for admission to a hospital bed being very high, which results in patients being discharged 

too early or not admitted at all.  The demands of those effected by drug and alcohol, which 

can present as delusional or paranoid symptoms, also has a heavy impost on mental 

health services.  The mental health services in Victoria have not grown to keep pace with 

population growth and patient demand putting all parts of the mental health system under 

stress such that the very urgent and critically ill are prioritised for treatment.  

Since the 1990s, have there been any developments, either in the service system or in the 

community generally, that should be considered in future reforms? 

Activity based funding 

53 The funding system for public mental health services is primarily historical and based on 

block funding.  While this system has worked reasonably well, a patient outcome based 

funding system would be preferable, but such a system is not currently viable.  

54 The Independent Hospital Pricing Authority, which is a national body (and of which I am 

a Board Member), has developed a new funding system and States, including Victoria, 

are now submitting data to assist in the further development of this system. It is likely that 

Victoria and other States will be able to adopt this system in the next few years.  

Future reform 

55 The needs of the Victoria public mental health system are considerable and it is pleasing 

that the Victoria government has already agreed to implement all of the recommendations 

of this Royal Commission.  My suggestions are as follows. 

56 While there have been many State and Federal plans developed since the 1990s, there 

is a need for a new state-wide plan to be developed by DHHS with leaders in mental 

health in Victoria and elsewhere which sets the blueprint for a new set of reforms.  This 

would identify the deficiencies in the current service system and the new and expanded 

elements needed. We should build on things that are proven and working effectively and 

reshape other areas not working as well. These needs are both in the public mental health 

services (for all age groups) now operated by health services and also in other areas such 

as the not-for-profit sector, that provides much needed psychosocial support for those 
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with a mental illness.  It also needs to consider improved access to housing and 

accommodation and to drug and alcohol services.  Forensic mental health services also 

need considerable attention, including care provided within the Victorian prison system.  

The new plan should be aligned to the Fifth National Mental Health and Suicide 

Prevention Plan developed in 2017. 

57 The State plan must identify how it can better work with elements of mental health care 

that is not provided by the public mental health system, such as private psychiatry, the 

National Disability Insurance Scheme, Primary Care Networks and the federally funded 

components including Medicare Benefits Schedule and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme 

elements for medical and allied health care. 

58 A significant capital program is likely to be identified as many of the facilities are now in 

need of refurbishment or redevelopment, given the under investment in the physical 

infrastructure for public mental health services. 

59 Teaching and research needs attention, as do the workforce issues being experienced 

where both capacity and capability need enhancing as recruitment and retention is 

challenging in Victoria.  This should be extended to other public mental health services.  

Behavioural Assessment Units are in some busy EDs but not others such as Northern 

Health, which is the busiest ED in the State. Barwon Health has been trialling mental 

health workers working with the Ambulance Service and early results indicate that other 

health services would benefit from this addition to their mental health services.  

60 The development of a peer workforce would enhance services, with peer workers taking 

a direct role in care for those people with mental illness.  While remunerated and non-

remunerated consumers were introduced in the 1990s, this needs considerable 

expansion to supplement a pressured workforce and to provide the experience they have 

to the care of patients. 

61 Marginalised groups need special attention as these groups are often those most at risk.  

These groups include our Aboriginal and Torres Strait population, refugees, other cultural 

and linguistic groups, those with an eating disorder or a personality disorder, and those 

with a dual disability. 

62 Modelling needs to be carried out on the demand for services in the community and the 

projected need in order to plan for the expansion of services according to population 

growth and need. Services have not been expanded to meet demand for many years. 
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PREPARING THE SYSTEM FOR REFORM AND IMPLEMENTATION 

Can you provide the Royal Commission with an example of a system reform that you have 

been involved in which has been successfully and sustainably implemented in the 

Victorian healthcare system? 

63 The best example of a successful system reform that I have been involved in is the 

deinstitutionalisation of the public mental health system which I have referred to in 

paragraphs 44 to 49 of this statement. 

How did community, government and other key players work together to design and 

deliver the reform? 

64 In the development of the new mental health strategy in the 1990s, there was 

considerable consultation with both the community and key stakeholders.  The Minister 

was kept informed of progress and was supportive throughout.  The mental health sector, 

including consumers and carers, were consulted at key points and leading academics 

also provided advice.  

What were the success measures?  What was done to ensure that success was 

sustainable? 

65 The strategy contained key measures of success such as the closure of stand-alone 

institutions and the establishment of new services within health services and the 

agreement of the health services to a service agreement where key measures of 

performance and compliance were detailed and was the basis of monitoring their 

performance in service delivery.  KPIs were developed to enable the tracking of quality 

and service output measures.  A target was set for the percentage of budget for bed 

based services as against community based services, with growth to occur in community 

based services. 

In thinking about past major system reforms where the ambition had not been met, can 

you reflect on why this has occurred? 

66 Victoria was considered the leader in public mental health services in the late 1990s after 

the reforms were implemented and when spending on mental health was the highest in 

Australia.  To reclaim this position, mental health needs strong and focused leadership 

from health services, DHHS, the Minister(s) and government.  Funding needs to follow 

the development of a comprehensive plan and implementation needs to be executed 

expertly to ensure the goals of the new plan are met and that there is a material and 

significant improvement in services for people with mental illness in Victoria. This will take 

some time to achieve and the sustainability of this is imperative so as not to slip back 

again. 
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67 A considerable injection of new funds will be required by the State Government to move 

the public mental health services to a level of acceptability by consumers, carers, health 

professionals and the general public. While it might seem reasonable to aim for Victoria 

to be at the average of expenditure on mental health across Australia, all States are 

underinvested in mental health and any goal should far exceed the national average. 

print name Jennifer June Williams AM 

date 22 July 2019 
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                                    Master of Science 
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          Board Member, Independent Hospital Pricing Authority              Oct 17 - current 

Trustee & Chair, Alfred Health Whole Time Medical               
          Specialists’ Private Practice Scheme                                   May 09 - current 
Independent Member of the East Melbourne Primary Healthcare  
          Network - Nominations and Remuneration Ctee                 Aug 16 – current 
Panel Member, SA Mental Health Service Plan development       Aug 18 to current 
 

      Previous: 
       Consultant, Review of SA Mental Health                                      Aug 18 – Dec 18 
          Consultant, Review of Paediatric Eating Disorders                       Aug 18 – Dec 19 
          Panel Member, Palliative Care Ministerial Review                       Feb 18 - May 18 
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Ministerial Advisory Council for the Victorian 
          Health System Statewide Service and Infrastructure Plan   Feb 16 - Mar 17  
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 Director, The Alfred Foundation        Oct 04 - Feb 09 
 Chair, Alfred Medical Research & Education Precinct      Oct 04 - Feb 09 
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 Director, Mental Health Research Institute       Nov 02 - Feb 09  
 Director, Health Roundtable         Sept 98 - Feb 09 

Director, Austin Research Institute        Mar 01 - Oct 04 
 Director and Deputy Chair, Victorian Institute of 
           Forensic Psychiatry         Mar 98 - Apr 01 
 Director, Austin & Repatriation Medical Centre       Nov 97 - Oct 00 
 Director, Hospital Superannuation Board       Oct 93 - Nov 97 
 Director, ACCI         Apr 95 - Jan 97 
 Chair, Vistel Pty Ltd         Feb 93 - Dec 96 
 
 1995 Victorian Business Woman of the Year - Public Sector Category   
 

EMPLOYMENT SUMMARY 

 
1. Non-Executive Director - from Mar 16 (see above) 

2. Australian Red Cross Blood Service (Mar 09 - Mar16) Chief Executive  
3. Alfred Health (Oct 04 - Feb 09) Chief Executive 

4. Austin Health (Nov 97 - Oct 04) Chief Executive  
5. State Government of Victoria (Jun 84 - Oct 97) 

 
 Sept 96 – Oct 97: Department of Human Services 
  Director, Aged Community & Mental Health 
 Oct 93 - Sept 96: Department of Health & Community Services 
  Director, Psychiatric Services 
 Nov 90 - Oct 93: Department of Treasury/Department of Finance 
  General Manager, Information & Commercial Services 
 Jan 89 - Nov 90: Attorney General’s Department 
  Deputy Secretary 
 Aug 85 - Jan 89: Attorney General’s Department 
  Director, Information Systems 
 Jun 84 - Aug 85: Ministry of Housing 
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IN THE CORONERS COURT Court Reference: 2015 5722
OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

FINDING INTO DEATH WITH INQUEST

Form 37 Rule 60(1)

Section 67 of the Coroners Act 2008

Amended pursuant to Section 76 of the Coroners Act 2008 on 2 July 2019 i

Inquest into the Death of: Trajce Laboski

Delivered On: 26 June 2019

Delivered At: 65 Kavanagh Street
Southbank 3006

Hearing Dates: 19 & 20 September 2018

Findings of: Acting State Coroner Caitlin English

Representation: Ms D Foy of Counsel

Instructed by Ms J Moffatt of DTCH Lawyers
For North Western Mental Health, Melbourne Health

This document is an amended version of the Inquest Finding into Trajce Laboski’s death dated 26 June 2019. A
correction to paragraph 16 has been made pursuant to Section 76 of the Coroners Act 2008 (Vic) In an email dated
27 June 2019, John Snowdon Chief Legal Officer at Northern Health advised the Court that the reference to 2.40pni
in paragraph 16 of the Finding was in fact 2.40am. Paragraph 16 has been amended to reflect this correction.
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Ms N Hodgson of Counsel

Instructed by Mr J Snowdon of General Counsel

For Northern Health

Ms A Wood of Counsel

Instructed by Ms L Rimon of Henry Carus & Associates

For Mr Laboski’s family

Ms E Gardiner of Counsel

Instructed by Ms J Gibbs of VGSO
For Victoria Police

Ms A McTiernan of Counsel

Instructed by Mr M Temminghoff of Slater & Gordon

For Ms Christine Baker

Police Coronial Support Unit: Acting Sergeant Sonia Reed

Counsel Assisting the Coroner: Ms Sarah Gebert, Principal In-House Solicitor
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I, Caitlin English, Acting State Coroner having investigated the death of Trajce Laboski

AND having held an inquest in relation to this death on 19 and 20 September 2018

at Melbourne
find that the identity of the deceased was Trajce Laboski

born on 26 September 1988

and the death occurred on 10 November 2015

at 185 Cooper Street, Epping, Victoria
from:

I (a) Injuries sustained in descent from height

in the following circumstances:

Background & chronology

Trajce Laboski was a 27-year-old man at the time of his death. He lived in Epping with his

parents.

1.

Mr Laboski had a history of illicit drug use, namely cannabis and methamphetamines, which

had had a negative effect on his mental health.
2.

He had been admitted to the Northern Hospital on several occasions between 2010 and 2014.

He was diagnosed with schizophrenia and was on prescribed medication.
3.

4. In the twelve months preceding his death, Mr Laboski was living with his parents, had stopped

taking drugs and had completed a metal fabrication course.

Apprehension under Section 351 of the Mental Health Act 2014

5. On 9 November 2015 Mr Laboski caught up with a friend in St Kilda and returned home around

7pm.

His father described him as being agitated and withdrawn when he returned. Mr Laboski called

a psychic hotline and shortly after this call, injected himself with testosterone, threatening

suicide to his father.

6.

7. At about 10.00pm, his father called 000 and police attended. Mr Laboski told them he had taken

the testosterone and that he hoped to slip into a coma and die.

Police apprehended him under s 351 of the Mental Health Act (2014) and requested an

ambulance.
8 .
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Owing to the unavailability of an ambulance, police transported Mr Laboski to the Northern

Hospital.

9.

Emergency Department at Northern Hospital

10. At 11.25pm police arrived at the Northern Hospital with Mr Laboski. Mr Laboski was seen by

Emergency Department Registrar Dr Raslimi Kumble.

Dr Kumble assessed his medical condition and performed a psychiatric risk assessment. She

determined Mr Laboski required a psychiatric admission. Mr Laboski was transferred to the

care of the hospital and police members were cleared to leave.

11.

12. At 12.30 am on 10 November 2015 a notification was made to the emergency department mental

health nurse for urgent review. Mr Laboski was moved to the pink internal waiting room where

he sat with his father.

13. At 2am Nurse Christine Baker from the Clinical Assessment Team attended the Emergency

Department to conduct an assessment with Mr Laboski.

14. Ms Baker requested the Associate Nurse Unit Manager Salima Matthew for a supervised blue

or purple pod. As neither were available, Ms Baker agreed to start the assessment in a pink pod.

15. Ms Baker concluded Mr Laboski required hospitalisation for treatment and commenced the

paperwork for him to be placed on an assessment order.

16. Prior to the paperwork for admission being completed, at around 2.40am Mr Laboski left the

pod and exited the hospital through the main emergency entrance.

17. His father, and Ms Baker followed him a short time later but were unable to locate him.

18. Ms Baker returned to the hospital and called a Code Grey. Hospital security conducted a short

search in the immediate area out the Emergency Department. Ms Baker called 000 to report Mr

Laboski as a missing person.

Notification to police

19. The 000 was made to Epping police station. First Constable Monica Allen contacted Ms Baker

to obtain the details about Mr Laboski being missing.

A missing person report was recorded and the duty patrol supervisor was notified. A police unit

was tasked to patrol and attend Mr Laboski’s address to establish if he had returned home.
20.
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At approximately 6am First Constable Allen was notified by the Mill Park Divisional van that

Mr Laboski had not returned home and that there were no results from searches of the nearby
21 .

area.

Discovery

At around 7.05am on 10 November 2015, James Kalinchev was at the Northern Hospital

expansion project site where he worked as a plumber. As he was walking on the site, he noticed

‘ ...a person lying face down on the ground ... wearing a blue hoodie, with the hood pulled up

over his head and black track pants' }

22 .

Mr Kalinchev and site manager John Guerrero attempted to wake the person, then realised that

he was not breathing. Mr Guerrero contacted emergency services.3
23.

Police arrived at around 7.15am. They noted that the person matched the description of Mr

Laboski which had been given to police after he left Northern Hospital earlier that morning.4
24.

A positive identification of Mr Labovski was subsequently made. Police informed Mr

Labovski’s father that he was deceased.5
25.

Identification

On 12 November 2015 Svetozar Laboski visually identified his son, Trajce Laboski, born

26 September 1988.

26.

Cause of death

On 12 November 2015, Dr Jacqueline Lee, a Forensic Pathologist practising at the Victorian

Institute of Forensic Medicine, conducted an inspection of Mr Laboski’s body and provided a

written report, dated 13 November 2015. In her report, Dr Lee concluded that a reasonable cause

of death was‘1(a) Consistent with injuries sustained in descent from height’.

27.

Toxicological analysis identified the presence of the benzodiazepines diazepam and

nordiazepam as well as the antipsychotics hydroxyrisperidone and olanzapine.

28.

Testing was also performed for testosterone. The level found was greater than 120.0 nmol/L,

while the expected reference range for testosterone levels is between 8.3 and 30.2 nmol/L.
29.

2 Coronial Brief (CB) 92
3 CB 92, 95
4 CB 112
5 CB 113
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Coronial investigation

Mr Laboski’s death was reported to the coroner as it appeared to be unnatural and to have

resulted, directly or indirectly, from an accident or injury and came within the definition of a

reportable death in section 4 of the Coroners Act 2008.

30.

The role of a coroner is to independently investigate reportable deaths to establish, if possible,

identity, medical cause of death and surrounding circumstances. Surrounding circumstances are

limited to events which are sufficiently proximate and causally related to the death. The purpose

of a coronial investigation is to establish the facts, not to cast blame or determine criminal or

civil liability.

31.

The Coroner’s Investigator prepared a coronial brief in this matter.32.

Coroners Prevention Unit

I requested the Coroners Prevention Unit6 (CPU) to review Mr Laboski’s medical management

at the Northern Hospital.
33.

Mandatory Inquest

As Mr Laboski left the Northern Hospital prior to his assessment being completed by Ms Baker,

his legal status as a patient was unclear. If he was an involuntary or compulsory patient under

the Mental Health Act 2014 then an Inquest is mandatory pursuant to section 52(2) of the

Coroners Act 2008.

34.

As Mr Laboski’s legal status at the time of his death was in issue as to whether or not he was

an involuntary patient, I decided to hold an inquest to explore this issue as well as Mr Laboski’s

care and management at the Northern Hospital.

35.

Direction Hearings

Four directions hearings were held on 14 December 2017, 22 June 2018, 27 July 2018 and 12

September 2018. The purpose of the direction hearings was to determine the scope and

witnesses to be called at the inquest. On 12 September 2018 I delivered a ruling granting

36.

6 The Coroners Prevention Unit (CPU) was established in 2008 to strengthen the prevention role of the coroner. The unit
assists the Coroner with research in matters related to public health and safety and in relation to the formulation of
prevention recommendations. The CPU also reviews medical care and treatment in cases referred by the coroner. The
CPU is comprised of health professionals with training in a range of areas including medicine, nursing, public health
and mental health.
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Christine Baker’s application to be excused from attending the inquest and being called as a

witness. I granted the application for Ms Baker to be legally represented at the inquest.

Scope of Inquest

The scope of the inquest was as follows:37.

1. The interactions of Nurse Baker with Mr Laboski at the Northern Hospital on 10

November 2015;

2. Mr Laboski’s treatment at Northern Hospital, in particular:

a. His legal status at the time of his death;

b. Pod allocation

c. Whether an assessment order under section 30 of the Mental Health Act (2014) could

have been made by Dr Kumble and if so, why it was not.

3. The co-delivery of psychiatric services by North Western Mental Health, a division of

Melbourne Health, within Northern Hospital;

4. The Northern Health construction site where Mr Laboski was found deceased;

5. Changes to policy and procedure by both North Western Mental Health and Northern

Hospital since Mr Laboski’s death;

6. Further prevention opportunities.

Prior to evidence being called, the Northern Health conceded it was inappropriate for Mr

Laboski to have been placed in an unstaffed pink pod when he was assessed by Christine Baker

and that should not have occurred.

38.

39. Northern Health also conceded that the pallets stacked by the fence adjacent to the construction

site should not have been left there.

Inquest

40. The inquest was held on 19 and 20 September 2018. Six witnesses gave evidence. Following

the evidence, the parties exchanged submissions and legal argument was heard on 24 October

2018.

In this finding I intend to consider the evidence in the context of the scope. I have re-arranged

the order of issues in the scope to fit a linear narrative.
41.
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With respect to scope items 1 and 2,1have considered these in chronological order, namely Dr

Kumble’s assessment of Mr Laboski, pod allocation, Mr Laboski’s interactions with Christine

Baker, and Mr Laboski’s legal status following this at the time of his death.

42.

Item 3 of the scope, namely the co-delivery of psychiatric services by North Western Mental

Health, a division of Melbourne Health within Northern Hospital, provides the background

context to the provision and division of medical and mental health services to patients at the

Northern Hospital.

43.

44. In 2014-2015 the Northern Hospital Emergency Department (NHED) had approximately 70

000 presentations. Mental health services are co-located within Northern Hospital but are

provided to patients by North Western Mental Health (NWMH) staff who are employed by

Melbourne Health, not Northern Health.

The policy and practice in the NHED is for Northern Health staff medically triage and medically

assess mental health patients and make a referral to the Emergency Mental Health Clinician

(EMHC) from NWMH to perform a mental health assessment.

45.

The evidence at inquest sought to clarify the effectiveness of operational policies and guidelines

that distinguish between care, management and security (the responsibility of NHED) and the

mental health treatment (responsibility of NWMH) across the two healthcare organisations.

46.

Mr Laboski’s treatment at Northern Hospital:

• Whether Dr Kumble could have assessed Mr Laboski under section 30 of the Mental

Health Act 2014

47. On 9 November 2015, Victoria Police transported Mr Laboski to NHED at 11.15pm.

Following his arrival, Mr Laboski was triaged by Nurse Anna Gibson at 11,37pm.

At midnight, Mr Laboski was medically assessed by Dr Rashmi Kumble in a purple pod 7 (a

staffed pod) within the Emergency Department. Dr Kumble completed pathology screening and

ECG to rule out any medical concerns from the 8 mg of testosterone he had injected.

48.

49.

50. In her statement, Dr Kumble stated:

‘During my interview with Mr Labosld, I concentrated on the physical implications from the

medication injected and also performed a psychiatric risk assessment.> 8

7 Exhibit 10
8 Exhibit 10
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After satisfying herself that Mr Laboski had no symptoms from the testosterone, Dr Kumble

determined:
51.

‘ Mr Laboski needed psychiatric admission as he had no insight and has symptoms of

psychosis secondary to his schizophrenia. He was not aggressive and not demonstrating signs

of absconding accordingly I felt comfortable admitting him to hospital, and that it was

appropriate to release the police.’ 9

52. At 12.30am Dr Kumble made a referral to EMHC,

‘.. for an urgent review, describing Mr Laboski’s presentation and that he had been medically

cleared and needed inpatient psychiatric admission due to his poor insight and psychotic

symptoms. > 10

As one of the issues in scope for the inquest was whether Dr Kumble could have made a section

30 assessment order, Dr Kumble made a further statement and explained,
53.

‘ ...in 2015, it was not general practice for Northern Hospital medical practitioners working

in the [Emergency] Department to make Assessment orders in respect of patients arriving in

police custody under section 351...exception...[being] patients [who] appeared to present a

serious and imminent danger to themselves... > l i

In evidence Dr Kumble clarified she ensured Mr Laboski was medically safe and performed a

‘brief psychiatric assessment. 12

54.

55. Dr Kumble clarified that whilst she formed the view Mr Labosld required psychiatric admission,

that was best done by a mental health clinician, ' who could do it in a formal way and in a

comprehensive way and assess whether he met the criteria for s. 29 and then make an

The mental health clinicians usually make assessment orders and they’re> 13 *assessment order,

better versed with it than junior doctors.> 14

56. Dr Kumble confirmed she had never previously performed a section 30 assessment.

9 Exhibit 10
10 Exhibit 10
11 Exhibit 11
12 T 106
l3 T 110
14 T 115
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She also advised Mr Laboski he would need to stay for '' further assessment’ but did not mention

to him this would be by the EMHC. 15 She also indicated she knew from Mr Laboski that he did

not want to be admitted to hospital. 16

57.

In cross examination byMs Wood, Dr Kumble confirmed she spoke by telephone with Christine

Baker, EMHC. She stated:

58.

' ...so we discussed Tracje’s presentation and that I’ve medically cleared him and...the fact that

he was having hallucinations, was happy to stay for an assessment hut did not want to be

admitted.» 17

Dr Kumble confirmed she assessed Mr Laboski in a purple pod, and later saw him sitting with

his father in the pink waiting room and did not have any concerns he would leave the hospital.18

59.

Dr Dean Pritchard, the Deputy Director of Northern Hospital ED explained the junior medical

staff see the patients according to their triage urgency and are required to perform a medical

assessment as well as a basic psychiatric assessment. This is a mental state examination as well

as a risk assessment. 19 They then discuss their assessment with a registrar, a more senior doctor

on the floor.

60.

In the hypothetical example of a patient who was an imminent risk to themselves, Dr Pritchard

stated: ‘7 would expect our junior HMO’s to escalate to a senior doctor. I wouldn’t expect our

junior HMO’s to enact the Mental Health Act, as it has significant ramifications for the patient,

but immediate escalation to a senior clinician.

61.

> 20

62. When asked whether there was ever an occasion when a doctor might make an assessment order,

Dr Pritchard volunteered that he had made one himself and described circumstances of

‘.. .evidence of acute violence and aggression and physically attempting to leave... > 21

63. He acknowledged Dr Kumble had the legal power to make a section 30 assessment order if the

circumstances of a particular case met the ‘practice’ stipulated by Northern Hospital, and in his

view she should also escalate the matter with senior staff.

15 T 112
16 T 118
17 T 121
is T 129
19 T 243
20 T 245
21 T 263
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Analysis

Dr Rumble accepted responsibility for the treatment and security of Mr Laboski from Victoria

Police. When Dr Rumble told the police Mr Laboski was being ‘admitted’ to hospital it is clear

she meant ‘to the emergency department and basically taldng hand over from the police to the

emergency department.

64.

> 22

It is not clear what processes were in place in Northern Hospital Emergency Department for a

patient awaiting a mental health assessment, with respect to who has responsibility for ensuring

their care and safety whilst awaiting a mental health assessment.

65.

One aspect of this is the Northern Hospital ‘practice’ whereby a Northern Health doctor would

only enact the Mental Health Act or conduct a section 30 assessment if a patient was

‘aggressive, agitated and seeking to leave.

66 .

> 23

Dr Rumble followed Northern Hospital practice whereby she completed a medical assessment

and a brief mental or risk assessment. As Mr Laboski was not agitated or seeking to leave, or a

‘danger to himself , Dr Rumble did not seek to conduct an assessment under section 30 of the

Mental Health Act. Mr Laboski was willing to remain for further assessment.’’

67.

Dr Rumble’s actions were in accordance with Northern Hospital practice.68.

Although Dr Rumble’s brief mental health assessment of Mr Laboski’s presentation was that

he should be admitted as an involuntary patient, he did not meet the hospital’s criteria whereby

his behaviour (an imminent danger to himself or others) warranted Dr Rumble assessing him

such to make an assessment order under the Mental Health Act.

69.

Northern Health submitted as Mr Laboski was calm and co-operative whilst waiting therefore

any action by Dr Rumble to make an involuntary assessment order under section 30 would have

been contrary to section 29 and therefore unlawful, as he was not an imminent danger to himself

or others. tPut simply, while he was waiting to remain for further assessment (to be undertaken

by an EMHC in accordance with ED protocol), Trajce did not meet the criteria for involuntary

treatment or detention.

70.

> 24

22 T 108
23 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 16
24 Submission on behalf of Northern Health dated 5 October 2018 p 5
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71. I do not accept this argument. Dr Kumble had determined he ‘needed psychiatric admission,25

‘due to his poor insight and psychotic symptoms,26 and was empowered to make an assessment

order but for the Northern Hospital practice which was to wait for an assessment by an EMHC.

The evidence is that Mr Laboski was calm during his assessment by Ms Baker who decided he

met the criteria for involuntary admission and quickly came to opinion he was ‘acutely

psychotic’ 11. I am of the view it was on the basis of the practice of Northern Hospital that Dr

Kumble did not proceed with a section 30 assessment rather than that the circumstances were

not warranted under the Mental Health Act.

The practice of the Northern Hospital in the Emergency Department, is that a mental health

assessment is made by an EMHC. It was Dr Pritchard’s evidence that junior medical staff, if

contemplating a section 30 assessment, should seek advice from senior medical staff if the

circumstances warrant it.

72.

In counsel’s submissions on behalf of NWMH she contended that ‘ what happened at North

Western Mental Health is exactly what would have happened at any hospital with an emergency

department and a mental health serviced 28 The difference between the emergency mental

health clinician and the registered medical practitioner in ED is one of ‘skill and training...’

73.

‘The mental health clinician is sldlled and trained in undertaldng mental health assessments,

they are bound by particular policies, protocols, practice guidelines, training and Imowledge

to undertake a proper adequate and thorough mental health assessment.

When medical practitioners speak of mental health assessments, they are usually doing a short

series of questions, whereas a mental health clinician has been trained to ask a variety of

questions in particular ways. And the practice is simply no different to the practice in any public

mental health service...> 29

74. In submissions on behalf of Ms Baker, counsel noted ‘Dr Kumble ..could have completed the

Section 30 - involuntary patient admission, but didn’t, notwithstanding the fact that the

emergency department was overburdened, with between 70-78 patients ...and

understaffed...There was no other emergency mental health practitioner to assist [Ms] Baker

in the work load that night, which included another four or five patients who had been

25 CB 23
26 Exhibit 10
27 CB 20
28 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 31
29 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 31
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apprehended pursuant to section 351 of the Mental Health Act. There was no Supervisor on

duty, for [Ms] Baker to ‘escalate up the channels’ that she needed assistance. > 30

Section 28(1) of the Mental Health Act provides: ‘ An Assessment Order is an Order made by a

registered medical practitioner or mental health practitioner ...'
75.

76. I find Dr Kumble had the power to make a section 30 Assessment Order for Mr Laboski but did

not do so because of the Northern Hospital practice whereby assessments are only carried out

by doctors in extreme circumstances where people represent an imminent danger to themselves

or others.

A series of decisions were made by staff and Mr Laboski’s father to keep information from Mr

Laboski so he would not abscond. They chose to omit information that he was waiting to be

assessed by an EMHC because they were aware of the potential consequences (ie, that he might

leave). Northern Hospital cannot logically contend that Mr Laboski was ‘compliant’ and

therefore not within section 29 of the Mental Health Act when his compliance was solely due

to this pretext.

77.

It does not appear there was a treatment plan for Mr Laboski other than for him to wait to be

assessed by the EMHC: this was in accordance with Northern Hospital practice which, rather

than being patient centred care, prioritised the hospital processes over the needs of the patient.

78.

79. The advice from the Chief Psychiatrist states:

‘Once a hospital accepts the care of a person under section 351, they have an obligation to take

reasonable steps to arrange for the person to be examined as soon as possible, in accordance

with section 30 of the Act.> 31

80. I find that the hospital had a duty to keep Mr Laboski safe whilst waiting for that assessment,

which I will consider in the following section which considers pod allocation.

• Pod allocation

The second aspect with respect to who has responsibility for ensuring Mr Laboski’s care and

safety whilst awaiting a mental health assessment concerned his movement around the ED and

pod allocation.

81.

30 Amended submissions on behalf of Christine Baker dated 3 October 2018, pl4
31 CB 59
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When Mr Laboski was brought to the Northern Hospital by police, he was initially triaged by

Nurse Anna Gibb.
82.

He was then seen by Dr Kumble in a purple pod for triage where he was medically assessed,

tests taken, as well as a brief mental health assessment.
83.

Following this he and his father waited for the ‘further assessment’ in the pink internal waiting84.

room.

He was then assessed by Christine Baker in an unstaffed pink pod for a mental health

assessment.
85.

86. The chronology and decision making following his assessment by Dr Kumble is relevant to the

scope of the inquest.

Evidence was given that the evening of 9 November 2015 was one of the busiest nights ever

experienced at the Northern Hospital Emergency Department. At the beginning of the night

shift, there were 26 patients waiting to be seen, and a total of 78 patients in the Emergency

Department.

87.

There were 38 staffed pods. On a nonnal ratio, this means one allocated nurse to every 3 pods.

There are also unstaffed pods, which means there is no nurse dedicated to the patient in that

pod. The blue pod area is for high acuity patients with complex needs.

88 .

89. In addition to Mr Laboski, there were three other patients who had been brought in by Victoria

Police pursuant to section 351 of the Mental Health Act, who were also awaiting a mental health

assessment.

Dr Kumble noted that shortly after finishing her assessment of Mr Laboski, she noticed him and

his father‘sitting in the purple pod waiting room within the ED,’32

90.

Salimma Mathew was the Associate Nurse Unit Manager (ANUM) on shift in the Northern

Hospital Emergency Department on 9-10 November 2015.
91.

In her statement she states on 9 November 2015 Mr Laboski was placed straight in cubicle

purple 34 where he was assessed by the triage nurse, as every bed in the blue pod was

occupied.33 In her evidence she stated:

92.

32 T 110
33 Exhibit 13
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‘Normally we do the triage and move them to the cubicle. This particular time, because he was

351 and with the suspicion of steroid injection, I was alarmed. And I said, let’s take him to the

cubicle, do the assessment there.’ 34

At around 12.30 am she stated she had a discussion with Dr Kumble about Mr Laboski being

allowed outside for a cigarette and she went to check on him. '' He appeared settled and calm

and I agreed that he could go and have a cigarette.’ 35

93.

Ms Matthew stated that due to high demand and following discussion with Dr Kumble, she

moved Mr Laboski to the pink discharge waiting area. Dr Kumble, in her evidence, could not

recall being consulted about this.

94.

In her evidence Ms Matthew stated that if Dr Kumble thought Mr Laboski was well enough to

go outside for a cigarette she made the decision to move him back to the waiting room.

95.

‘So I have decided if Dr Kumble thought he was safe enough to go [for a cigarette], then he’s
safe enough to sit in a waiting area, where he can sit with the dad. Where I can utilise this

cubicle for an acutely medically unwell patient...it was like playing chess... > 36

Mr Laboski was waiting in the pink waiting room with his father. In this space Mr Laboski and

his father had what Ms Mathews described as ‘nice chairs’ and as the space was outside the

nurses station she stated ‘...and lean actually view them directly from here [from] time to time.’’

96.

37

Ms Matthew stated that at about 2am, Christine Baker, EMHC ‘ ...arrived and requested

provision of a cubicle so that she could assess Mr Laboski in a more private and appropriate

environment.

97.

> 38

98. Ms Matthew stated:‘At this point I had no cubicle free so I asked the EMHC to take Mr Labosld

to one of the cubicles in the pink pod. The clinician was not enthusiastic about

this...Unfortunately the pink pod cubicles were not staffed at that time.* 39

Ms Matthew stated Ms Baker asked for a‘nurse to cubicle’ and stated,‘Mr Laboski might need

an admission.
99.

> 40

34 T 140
35 Exhibit 13
36 T 143
37 T 144
38 Exhibit 13
39 Exhibit 13
40 T 144
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100. Counsel for Ms Baker noted that the far from being a low stimulus area, the pod allocated was

next to the ambulance entrance, and across the corridor from the internal waiting area. 41

101. Ms Matthew explained that she asked the clinician to start her interview in the pink pod, and

said . .go ahead with the interview, meanwhile I will try and arrange a cubicle for you. That’s

how she took Mr Laboski to pink area, one of the cubicles.' 42

102. On this basis, Ms Baker took Mr Laboski to a pink cubicle. 43

103. Ms Matthew confirmed in evidence Ms Baker was unhappy about having to assess Mr Laboski

in a pink pod. 44

104. In the meantime, Ms Matthew moved a patient out of purple 33 to the green pod to make space

for Mr Laboski. She then heard a Code Grey. She went to the front desk for details and was told

by Ms Baker ‘.. .that Mr Laboski had run out of the interview while she was interviewing him

in the presence of his father.> 45

Analysis

105. Ms Matthew, as NHED ANUM was in charge of bed and pod allocation in ED.

106. The issues raised by Mr Laboski’s family were that his movement around the NHED were

unacceptable and further, queried why Ms Baker proceeded with the assessment in the pink pod,

and why were there no arrangements to secure the environment. 46

107. Ms Mathew was asked about the expected response time for an EMHC to assess a patient. Ms

Mathew stated: ‘...It is up to the mental health technician what time they come down. We have

When asked what was a ‘reasonable' time within which to expect

an assessment Ms Mathew stated ‘Sometimes they will be waiting all night. Sometimes within

[a] couple of hours.

> 47no control over them...

> 48

108. It was Ms Mathews stated, when asked whether there were enough mental health practitioners

on duty that night, ‘We normally have one... It was not enough.> 49

41 Amended submissions on behalf of Christine Baker dated 3 October 2018, pi1
42 T 145
43 T 145
44 T 170
45 Exhibit 13
46 Submissions on behalf of the family dated 5 October 2018 pp 4 & 6
47 T 169

T 169
49 T 174-5
48
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109. On night shift there was no-one to supervise the EMHC. 50

110. When asked whether she considered asking Ms Baker to wait until a staffed pod or a bed was

ready for Mr Laboski, Ms Mathew stated she did not want to risk that Ms Baker would say she

will go and assess another patient and ‘I’d have to wait another half an hour or one hour. > 51

111. Northern Hospital has conceded it was inappropriate for Mr Laboski to have been assessed by

Ms Baker in a pink pod.

112. Counsel for North Western Mental Health submitted Ms Baker did not choose the pod but ‘was

required to do so by reason of the number and acuity of patients in the blue pods in ED at the

time. > 52

113. Counsel for Mr Laboski’s family contend the assessment by Ms Baker should have been

deferred until a secure pod was available. 53

114. I accept the submissions for the family that the communication between Northern Hospital and

North Western Mental Health was inadequate on the night. There was no discussion about

where Mr Laboski should be seated whilst awaiting his mental health assessment. When Ms

Matthews allocated the pink pod to Ms Baker, she noted her reluctance but there was no full

and frank discussion about this. Ms Matthew did not want to wait until an appropriate cubicle

became available because she was worried Ms Baker would leave and assess another patient in

the meantime. Ms Mathew likened it to ‘chess' when she described moving patients to around

the emergency department to accommodate the number of presentations.

115. The submissions by the family note Ms Baker did not believe the pink pod was sufficiently

secure. 54

116. Ms Baker, as the EMHC, ultimately made the decision to assess Mr Laboski in the pink pod.
She was aware of his history as she knew him previously and had access to alerts and his prior

history. She did not put in place potentially mitigating strategies, such as asking for a security

guard or telling Mr Laboski’s father not to leave him alone. She also left the pod herself to go

to a computer at the nurses station.

50 T 175
51 T 177
52 North Western Mental Health submissions dated5 October 2018, p 2
53 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 60
54 Submissions on behalf of the family dated 5 October 2018 p 2

17

NOH.0020.0001.0021



117. I find that NWMH was chronically short staffed that evening with only one EMHC and no

ability for additional resources. The Northern Hospital ‘practice’ of doctors not making section

30 Assessment Orders meant there was no extra assistance available to Ms Baker.

118. The submissions from Northern Hospital note: ‘The difficulty faced by Northern Health in

providing care to Tracje on the evening of 9-10 November 2015 was the ever-increasing number

of patients and the high acuity of those patients’ health care needs, in an already overly full

ED.' There is some irony in this submission given the practice of Northern Hospital, structure

with North Western Mental Health and the self-imposed demarcation of duties and

responsibilities regardless of the provisions of the Mental Health Act.

• Interaction between Mr Laboski and Christine Baker

119. At approximately 2.00am Mr Laboski was assessed by EMHC Ms Baker.

> 55120. Mr Laboski’s father described his son’s mood as ‘excellent until Ms Baker came.
121. Mr Laboski’s father made a statement 56in which he described Ms Baker questioning Ms

Labosld’s belief in psychics. He described his son as becoming ‘...agitate[d]...as she was being

rude to him.’’ When he wanted to leave she stated ' No, you’re not going home, it’s not up to you,

it’s not up to your Dad, it’s up to me how long you are here...No, it’s not up to you or your dad,

I’ll be the one who decides how long you stay in the Psych Ward. > 57

122. In her statement Ms Baker states:

‘ My assessment of Tracje at this point was that he was acutely psychotic, insightless re his need

for treatment and that he met the criteria under the mental health act to be detained as a

compulsory patient under an assessment order, for inpatient treatment.

As Tracje became more agitated, I suggested to him that we find another cubicle, where we

could talk further about his beliefs and how we could help him.'

123. Mr Laboski stated his son’s response was ' If I’m going to the psych ward, I may as well kill

myself > 59

55 T 47
56 Exhibit 1
57 Exhibit 1
58 CB 20. Following the inquest and submissions, by letter dated 9 November 2018 Slater & Gordon solicitors for Ms

Baker advised that Ms Baker had instructed ‘she had not advised Tracje that he was to be admitted as an involuntary
patient at the time he left the ED.’ The letter was sent to the court and interested parties following the forensic
examination of the evidence.

59 Exhibit 1
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124. Mr Laboski senior noted that the assessment was in a cubicle near the reception desk and then

Ms Baker moved to the reception desk and started doing paperwork on the computer, and she

called Mr Laboski senior over to the computer. The evidence supports the fact that Ms Baker

did move to the computer, leaving Mr Laboski in the pod. It was at this point Mr Laboski states

his son ‘...got up from the bed, and walked away and left through the main emergency exit of

the Hospital.» 60

125. Mr Laboski senior stated Ms Baker said to him, ‘This is why we don’t do assessments here.

We’re supposed to do it down the back and with security present.> 61

126. In cross examination Mr Laboski senior agreed he had called police to take his son to hospital

‘ ...because he was having thoughts of taldng his own life...
that Ms Baker said he would be admitted, ‘In one way, yes. But in the way that she said it, and

in the way that she handled Trajce was not at all satisfied.

> 62 He was asked if he was relieved

> 63

127. He stated:

‘I’m angry towards her because she didn’t do what she, what she’d done the first time with

him...take him to the back to have security, that’s the main thing with him, and her way that she

treated and talked to us, her arrogance, her... ‘Oh, I know you from the last time’. 64

128. Mr Laboski senior stated it was only after Tracje had run away that on returning to the hospital

Ms Baker said ‘Oh, this is why we don’t examine in these pods but we examine these kinds of

people in the back over there.’ She knew that she’d done wrong. > 65

129. Mr Laboski senior noted his interest was in what happened that night and ‘what did the hospital,

the mental health team ...what have they tried to fix in order that this won’t happen to any other

parent. ? 66

130. Ms Baker was excused from giving evidence at the inquest on medical grounds. Ms McTiernan

of counsel appeared at the inquest on her behalf and Ms Baker’s statement was part of the

coronial brief. Ms McTiernan indicated she did not have instructions from Ms Baker.

60 Exhibit 1
61 Exhibit 1
62 T 42-43
63 T 43
64 T 55-56
65 T 57
66 T 72-73
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131. It was put to Mr Laboski senior he believed it was Ms Baker who made the decision for the

assessment to take place in the pink pod. He replied,‘ ...Idon’t know what she was told or she

wasn’t told or what to do or how to do her job. She should know how to do her job.> 67

132. Mr Laboski senior was present the whole time that Ms Baker assessed his son and he estimated

it took about half an hour.

133. In cross examination by Counsel for Ms Baker, Mr Laboski senior stated Ms Baker moved to

the nurse’s station and called him over. She said to him, ‘' Come over, let’s finish the paperwork

to admit him’. 68

134. Mr Laboski senior denied when it was put his son was ‘argumentative’ with him. 69

135. Parts of Ms Baker’s statement were put to Mr Laboski senior in cross examination. He denied

stating to his son that he was not going to take him home. 70

136. Mr Laboski senior agreed that Ms Baker said to his son and to himself,‘It’s not up to you

whether you’re admitted or not, its up to me.> 71

137. Counsel for Ms Baker put to Mr Laboski senior that she had noted in the medical records ‘Father

reports high level of aggression towards them. Fearful of how he will react to them blames them

for him being taken to hospital tonight.' Mr Laboski senior responded that referred to when his

son was on drugs, namely ice, in 2010, 2012, not in 2015.72

138. Mr Dermanakis gave evidence that having read Ms Baker’s statement, he was satisfied she

undertook a proper mental health assessment of Mr Laboski. 73

Analysis

139. In his statement and evidence, Mr Laboski senior describes his son as becoming agitated during
%

his assessment by Ms Baker,‘as she was being rude to him' . 74

140. This description of her manner and demeanour, as described by Mr Laboski’s father, was not

challenged by Counsel for Ms Baker in cross examination.

67 T 57
68 T 62
69 Counsel for Ms Baker quoting from Medical records p 35, T 62
70 T 63
71 T 64
72 T 69
73 T 224
74 CB 15
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141. Whilst Mr Laboski senior drew a link between her manner and his son’s agitation, it is also the

case that his son was clearly upset by the prospect of his imminent admission. He stated ' Dad,

let’s go home, I’ve had enough,’ and ‘I’m not going there, I’m not nuts,’ and, ' If I’m going to

the psych ward, I may as well kill myself.
Laboski did not want to be admitted.

> 75 Dr Kumble had also noted in her evidence that Mr

142. Prior to his assessment by Ms Baker, Mr Laboski’s demeanour was described in evidence by

Dr Kumble as being ‘completely calm > 76 > 77and there being ‘no arguments.
143. Ms Mathew described him as ‘calm and compliant sitting politely with his father in the waiting

and ‘calm and co-operative...At no point did I find him agitated or restless or anything> 78room,
> 79like that.

80144. In his evidence, Mr Laboski’s father described his mood as excellent, until Ms Baker arrived

and as ' co-operating...He ..wasn’t angry...He was calm.> 8!

145. In his statement Mr Laboski’s father described him as ' polite and co-operative’ and not telling

him about waiting for the CAT team: ‘We didn’t tell him this as he was calm.» 82

146. Neither Dr Kumble or Ms Mathews or Mr Laboski’s father advised Mr Laboski he was waiting

to be assessed by the EMHC and Mr Laboski’s father says in his statement, ‘We didn’t tell him

this as he was calm and we didn’t want him to run away.> 83

147. Mr Laboski’s father stated that when Mr Laboski walked out, '1thought he was just going home

...he was calling, ‘I’ve had enough, I’ve had enough, let’s go home’ so I thought he’s going out

to wait for me outside so we can go home after. Because he didn’t want to go to the psycho

ward.> 84

148. Whilst Mr Laboski’s agitation coincided with Ms Baker’s assessment. Mr Laboski knew Ms

Baker and knew she was the EMHC. Mr Laboski’s father perceived her manner as rude, the

reality is that Ms Baker’s assessment was the first time that night that Mr Laboski was told he

75 CB 15
76 T 111
77 T 123
78 T 177
79 T 184
80 T 47
81 T 51
82 CB 14
83 CB 14
84 T 26
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is going to be admitted to hospital as an involuntary patient. At this point, Mr Laboski’s father’s

fears were realised as his son walked out of the Emergency Department.

149. Mr Laboski’s father had, in fact, foreshadowed the possibility of this prospect earlier in the

evening when his son wanted to go outside for a cigarette. Mr Labosld senior stated:

‘Tracje wanted to go out and have a smoke. I was worried to as I thought he might run away.
He promised he wouldn’t, I went out with him and he had a smoke and he was fine. We did this

approximately 3-4 times. > 85

150. The submission by counsel for the family was that there was overwhelming evidence of Ms

Baker’s careless and inappropriate conduct which should be the subject of criticism by this

court. 86

151. I accept Mr Laboski senior was passionate in his evidence and aggrieved by Ms Baker’s manner

towards his son.

152. I am satisfied from the evidence that regardless of Ms Baker’s bed side manner, Mr Laboski

was at risk of leaving the hospital as he did not want to be admitted, and that risk was realised

from the point Ms Baker told him he was going to be admitted. It was Ms Baker’s decision,
based on her assessment of his symptoms on presentation, her conclusion being:

‘ My assessment of Tracje at this point was that he was acutely psychotic, insightless re his need

for treatment and that he met the criteria under the Mental Health Act to be detained as a

compulsory patient under an assessment order, for inpatient treatment.> 87

153. I agree with the submission by Ms Foy for North Western Mental Health that Ms Baker was

‘ the first and only person who told [Mr Laboski] that he was likely to need an inpatient

admission, an admission that he had earlier told others, such as Dr Kumble, he did not want.
...It is more likely than not that his demeanour would have changed, irrespective of the manner

of the person, who told him that he needed a psychiatric assessment and /or admission.. .It is

more likely that the prospect ofpsychiatric admission without his consent was the cause of his

departure.> 88

85 CB 14
86 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 60
87 CB 33
88 Submission from North Western Mental Health, p 5 - 6.
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154. I do not accept the submission of behalf of the family that Ms Baker’s ‘careless and

inappropriate interactions' 89with Mr Laboski were a cause of his death. I have noted however,

that Ms Baker could have done more to alleviate the risk of Mr Laboski absconding.

Mr Laboski’s legal status of the time of his death

155. In his statement Mr Dermanakis, Area Manager for Northern Area Mental Health Services gave

evidence on behalf of NWMH. His evidence was that Mr Laboski had absconded whilst his

assessment by Ms Baker was in process, ‘There is documentation that suggests he absconded

at approximately 0230hrs.> 90

156. Mr Dermanakis was unable to clarify but it appeared the assessment order was not written until

after he absconded.

157. He agreed it was well before 3 am that Ms Baker made a determination that Mr Laboski required

in-patient treatment, but that the assessment order was not signed until 3am. 91

158. He agreed with the opinion in the coronial brief from the Chief Psychiatrist that Mr Laboski

was in the care of the hospital until his examination under section 30 of the Mental Health Act

is completed, despite the fact he may have absconded from the hospital’s care. 92

159. Mr Dermanakis stated that as before 2.40am ‘ it is my understanding that he was voluntary at

that time' 93 and not subject to any order under the Mental Health Act.

160. Mr Dermanakis stated that many people are unhappy about being made an involuntary patient

and noted the Mental Health Act requires that they are informed they will be involuntarily

detained, ‘ ...its absolutely best practice to make sure that someone’s very clear what the

intended action is...Given that you will be trying to limit their liberty...you must give them a

copy of the assessment order, once completed... » 94

Analysis

161. As part of the coronial investigation advice was sought from the Chief Psychiatrist, Dr Neil

Coventry about the process when an apprehended person is taken to a public hospital for

assessment.

89 Submissions on behalf of the family dated 5 October 2018 p 3
90 Exhibit 17
91 T 206
92 T 202
93 T 224
94 T 226
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162. Dr Coventry advised that once custody of the person transfers from the police, the hospital is

responsible for the person’s care.

163. He noted that:

‘Hospital staff will seek the person’s cooperation to remain until they can be examined under

section 30 of the Act and will use all reasonable clinical and operational means to support the

person to stay. For example clinical staff may be assigned to remain with the person or move

them to a low stimulus area.> 95

164. Dr Coventry stated that once the hospital accepts care under section 351, there is an obligation

to take reasonable steps for the person to be assessed as soon as practicable in accordance with

section 30 of the Mental Health Act. 96 The hospital had a duty of care to keep Mr Laboski safe

until his assessment.

165. Although Mr Laboski was not moved to a low stimulus area, Ms Matthews did note he and his

father were moved to the waiting area outside the nurses’ station where the chairs were more

comfortable. Mr Laboski was also permitted by staff to go outside for a cigarette with his father

on a number of occasions. Mr Laboski was not told he was awaiting a mental health assessment,

which also appeared to be intentional, so as to maintain his co-operation.

166. Dr Coventry advised that a person only becomes a compulsory patient if and when they are

made subject to an assessment order under section 30 of the Act. The submission from NWMH

supports this position.

167. In her submissions, counsel for NWMH noted section 34 of the Mental Health Act which states

that an assessment order comes into force when it is made. The order must be in writing and the

person subject to the order given a copy.

168. Counsel for the Laboski family argued in her submission that there was no specific requirement

in the Mental Health Act for the assessment order to be in writing. She argued that just because

the order was not in writing until 3 am, does not mean it was not in existence prior to that.

169. I accept the advice from the Chief Psychiatrist that ‘The apprehended person only becomes a

compulsory patient if and when they are made subject to an Assessment order under section 30

of the Act.* 97

95 CB 59
96 CB 59
97 CB p 60
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170. The wording of section 34 (1) of the Mental Health Act states:

‘An Assessment Order comes into force when the Order is made and remains in force, unless

the Assessment Order is extended in accordance with this section or revoked in accordance with

section 37 —
(a) Subject to subsection (1A), in the case of a Community Assessment Order, for a period of

24 hours; or..A

171. The time limits specifically prescribed for these orders indicates to me they come into force

when they are written.

172. It is clear a patient is rarely happy about being made subject to an assessment order, and the

context and timing is when a person has high risks and is vulnerable.

173. Mr Laboski left the hospital prior to the Assessment Order being finalised I find he was not an

involuntary patient when he left the ED.

The co-delivery of psychiatric services by North Western Mental Health, a division of

Melbourne Health, within Northern Hospital:

174. The submission from the family raised three issues of concern regarding the co-delivery of

services by NWMH within Northern Hospital. These were: absence of training, the lack of

communication and the inadequate number of mental health practitioners.

175. Mr Dermanakis noted Mr Laboski’s death was a sentinel event and subject to a root cause

analysis by Northern Health. 98 Five opportunities were identified for development, although he

was not able to say whether they had been implemented, as he was not employed by Northern

Health. However he was able to state that there had been an improvement in the two health

services working more collaboratively as there are now twice daily huddles in the morning and

the afternoon‘ the senior emergency mental health staff and ED staffget together to look at the

plans for any mental health consumer...timeframes...There is also work that’s being done

separately and together about the escalation processes.> 99

176. When asked about paragraph 5 of his statement regarding ‘workplace environment safety

inspections’ he was unable to comment about implementation as it concerns how Northern

Health operates in their emergency department. 100

98 Exhibit 15
99 T 199

T 200100
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177. Mr Dermanakis confirmed that a manager from the emergency mental health team was part of

the root cause analysis, given the co-delivery of services within Northern Hospital.

178. Mr Dermanakis confirmed that on the evening in question, Ms Baker was the sole clinician

overnight, there was no direct supervision, but she could contact an on call manager for further

advice if she required.

179. In cross examination by Ms Wood, when asked whether staff from Northern Hospital ED and

staff from Mental Health services ‘get together...and have specific training in relation to the

delivery of mental health services within the emergency department’ Mr Dermanakis responded
5 101' ...it doesn’t happen... regularly.

180. Mr Dermanakis confirmed that the current policy requires assessments now take place in a

supervised pod. 102

181. Mr Dermanakis was asked by Ms Foy about the system in place between Northern Hospital and

North Western Mental Health, ‘There are regular interface meetings at a number of different

levels...including clinical [monthly]...as well as managerial [bi-monthly]...where issues are

raised and discussed and action plans determined...forums to discuss any tensions

or...differences of opinion...we call them liaison meetings...’103

182. Mr Dermanakis’ evidence was that two hours was a reasonable time for a patient to wait in ED

for a mental health assessment, although there are a number of factors that affect that timing.
104

183. He noted that the mental health clinician will consult with the nurse unit manager as to to whom

should be seen first. 105

184. With regards to pod allocation, Mr Dermanakis explained that the current preference is for a

resus 3 bed allocation and if that was not available then priority would be to the blue pods

because those cubicles are furthest away from exit points and closest to be able to be

monitored.106

185. On the other hand, Ms Wood for Mr Laboski’s family argued that the lack of training,

communication, leadership, the inadequate number of mental health staff on the night all

101 T 205
T 209
T 221
T 221
T 222
T 223

102
103
104
105
106
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highlight sub-standard administrative arrangements between the two organisations on the night

in question. 107

186. Counsel for NWMH submitted the co delivery model was relevant to two issues, firstly pod

allocation and secondly, the waiting time for a mental health assessment in ED. She submitted

in other health services, it is always the domain of the senior ED consultant and senior nurse to

control allocation of ED beds or pods. Further, the waiting time for a mental health patient in

ED is dependent on the availability of mental health staff and particular demands at the time.

‘ The circumstances for Trajce are no different from any patient having to wait for a medical

practitioner or for an on-call consultant if reqidred.> 108

187. I find the structure of the two health organisations impedes the quality and responsiveness of

patient care.

188. The NHED is responsible for ensuring Mr Laboski’s safety whilst waiting for his mental health

assessment.

189. The fact that Mr Dermanakis could not in his evidence advise whether improvements arising

from the root cause analysis had been implemented illustrates the effects of the co-delivery of

services.

190. The fact that Ms Matthews and Ms Baker did not have a discussion about allocation of the pink

pod and that Ms Matthews did not want to wait for the assessment for fear Ms Baker would go

and assess another patient illustrates the ‘absence of adequate coordination’ and

communication as submitted on behalf of the family109

191. The structure between the two health organisations in reality means that responsibilities under

the Mental Health Act are devolved to North Western Mental Health rather than to clinical staff

in ED to be used when necessary.

The Northern Health construction site where Mr Laboski was found:

192. Dr Dean Pritchard, Deputy Director of the Northern Hospital Emergency Department gave

evidence Mr Laboski exited from the main entrance to the Emergency Department and then

would have walked around the front of the hospital down the road between the hospital and the

plaza, maybe 300 metres to walk, but 100 metres as the crow flies. no

107 Submissions Transcript, 24 October 2018 p 58
Submission from North Western Mental Health p 9
Submissions on behalf of the family p 6
T 234-235

108
109
110
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193. Northern Hospital conceded the pallets stacked by the fence adjacent to the construction site

should not have been left there.

194. I am of the view that given the proximity of the entrance where Mr Laboski left the Emergency

Department to the building site, the stacked pallets gave Mr Laboski an easy and opportunistic

way of accessing the building site.

Changes to policy and procedure at Northern Hospital and North Western Mental Health since

Mr Laboski’s death:

195. Dr Pritchard indicated that there is a new policy regarding people brought to ED subject to

section 351 Mental Health Act that they get received through resus 3 and are placed in an area

furthest from the exit without any direct exits to the outside. 111

196. There were references sprinkled through the evidence from witnesses highlighting differences

to operations since Mr Laboski’s death.

197. Dr Pritchard spoke to the Risk Reduction Action Plan. 112

198. The first aspect of this is a North Western Mental Health, Ambulance Victoria and Victoria

Police Liaison Committee in collaboration with other agencies to ensure the hospital has pre-
arrival notification of all section 351 patients.
notification about the impending arrival of a patient gave staff the ability to '' find some space.

199. Dr Pritchard explained ‘the daily huddle’ whereby at a 9.15 am meeting all senior leaders in the

ED involving in-patient bed access as well as our mental health team discuss patient numbers,

bed availability and staffing numbers. He explained there was an escalation tier and a further

meeting at 4.15pm to ensure problems have been addressed, ‘...and whether or not going into

the evening we’re going to need more staff to cope, whether it’s emergency, mental health,

cardiology or even trying to pull in more staff to the wards to open up some more beds.

200. Ms Mathews evidence described these daily communications as ‘bed meetings’ between the

nurse in charge and the EMHC teams at 9.15 am and 3.30pm.

113 Dr Pritchard stated that 5- or 10-minutes
» 114

» 115

111 T 240-241
112 CB 54
113 T 246
i M 1247
1 ,5 T 250
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201. The second change related to the standardisation of cubicle allocation to reduce the movement

of mental health patients around the ED during their episode of care. Dr Pritchard described the

ED as now having more opportunities to move patients to various places.

202. The third improvement concerned hospital bed management which impacts on the number of

patients in ED. The fourth improvement related to escalating processes between the two health

services when there is a high demand for mental health services.

203. Despite all these improvements, Dr Pritchard clarified there is still only one emergency mental

health clinician rostered on overnight.

204. North Western Mental Health Service has advised that an EMHC will only perform assessments

the blue pod area (or staffed cubicles) of Northern Hospital ED.

205. The formal communication plan of twice daily huddles is in place and has improved

management of mental health patients because it includes an assessment of mental health

capabilities.

206. Work is underway to provide a low stimulus area in ED for mental health patients. The DHHS,

Northern Health and architects are working on creating a Behavioural Assessment Unit.

207. The Northern Hospital also has a surge code, so an escalation can be implemented when

necessary if patient numbers in ED exceed 40. This entails an hospital wide mobilisation to

create beds.

Conclusions

208. I find the ‘practice’ at Northern Hospital of medical staff not conducting section 30 assessments

mitigated against Mr Laboski receiving optimal care on the evening of 9-10 November 2015.

209. On that evening, of all evenings, the busiest on record, could have alleviated pressure on the

NWMH and patient wellbeing.

210. Dr Kumble’s initial assessment, that Mr Laboski had no insight and had psychotic symptoms

was exactly the same as that of Ms Baker’s two hours later.

211. The Northern Hospital ‘practice’ meant that on one of its busiest nights in the Emergency

Department, when multiple patients were being brought in on section 351’s by police could

potentially have been fast tracked, were not.

212. The Mental Health Act clearly stipulates registered medical practitioners have the power to

make such assessments and this practice occurs in other major hospitals in Melbourne.
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213. Prior to his assessment, Mr Laboski was ‘managed’ in the NHED by sheer good fortune and

luck and the support of his loving and devoted father. He and medical staff did not tell Mr

Laboski why he was waiting, for fear her would abscond. Whilst I can understand the

motivations, it can hardly be said to be reasonable or optimal health care and practice to use a

practice such as omitting information to prevent absconding. The evidence from Ms Matthews

of the NHED that night described her navigating a precarious balancing act between resources

and patient need.

214. This is illustrated by the decision by both health practitioners, Ms Matthews and Ms Baker to

assess Mr Laboski in the pink pod, against their better judgement, with no steps being taken to

try and mitigate the risk they were well aware of. Unfortunately, there was no discussion

between them regarding potential consequences of this decision and Ms Baker did not take any

steps to mitigate the potential risk.

215. From the evidence I have heard, there is no change to the ‘practice’ at Northern hospitals

regarding doctors not making section 30 assessments, and there is still one EMHC rostered on

at night.

216. The recommendations which follow are aimed at requiring Northern Hospital and North

Western Mental Health to together consider the safety and contemporary nature of their

respective roles in the emergency department.

217. I do not accept that Ms Baker’s demeanour caused Mr Laboski to abscond which led to his

death. Whilst Ms Baker may have been brusque or short, she was under pressure that evening

and was the first one to tell Mr Laboski that he needed to be admitted, which had been kept

from him whilst he was waiting.

218. All the evidence supports that there was a real fear he would abscond if he knew the reason he

was waiting, which was unfortunately realised once he was told by Ms Baker.

219. I note the concessions by Northern Health that Mr Laboski should not have been assessed in

the pink pod and that the pallets should not have been left next to the building site.

Finding

I find that Trajce Laboski bom on 26 September 1988 died from 1(a) Injuries sustained in descent

from height on 10 November 2015 at 185 Cooper street Epping.

Pursuant to section 72(2) of the Coroners Act 2008, 1make the following recommendations:
connected with the death:
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Recommendations

1. Melbourne Health North Western Mental Health and Northern Hospital undertake a review of

the actual wait times of people awaiting an assessment by the Emergency Department Mental

Health clinicians, especially out of business hours to, (1) establish if the two hours noted as a

reasonable wait time is the average for patients in the emergency department out-of-hours, and

(2) address any sustained variance that suggests wait times for patients out-of-hours is on

average greater than the two hours considered as reasonable.

2. Melbourne Health North Western Mental Health and Northern Hospital review the current

service model of care provided to patients in the Emergency Department who have a mental

illness or who require assessment for a possible mental illness, for opportunities to integrate

patient care processes to (1) identify patient needs, (2) increase the communication of critical

information, (3) develop shared and comprehensive care planning and (4) the prevention of

harm.

3. Northern Hospital Emergency Department in consultation with North Western Mental Health,

review the contemporaneousness and appropriateness of the practice that currently removes

medical practitioner responsibilities under the Mental Health Act 2014 and assigns responsibility

for its use to North Western Mental Health clinicians. The review should be informed by (1)

escalation processes in the Emergency Department, (2) an understanding of the intent of sections

28-30 of the Mental Health Act, (3) an understanding of the Mental Health Act safeguards for a

patient who is subject to the Act including their rights and responsibilities, and (4) advice

regarding the obligations regarding section 30 of the Mental Health Act 2014 from the Chief

Psychiatrist in Victoria.

I direct that a copy of this finding be provided to the following:

Mr Svetozar Laboski, Senior Next of Kin
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Senior Constable Peter James Englehart, Victoria Police, Coroner’s Investigator

Mr John Snowden on behalf of Northern Health
Ms Alicia Muscara, Slater & Gordon

Ms Lauren Rimon, Henry Cams & Associates

Ms Jan Moffatt on behalf of Melbourne Health, North Western Mental Health
Ms Jacinta Gibbs, VGSO
Ms Sania Ciciulla, Hall and Willcox Lawyers

Signature:

CAITLIN ENGLISH

ACTING STATE CORONER

Date: 26 June 2019
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